ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

**RECEIVED**  
DEC 29 2015  
**SC Court of Appeals**

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Lancaster County

The Honorable R. Knox McMahon. Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DAVID STALK,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-000166  
\_\_\_\_\_

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**  
\_\_\_\_\_

RAIA JANE HIRSCH, ESQ.  
1720 Main Street, Suite 301  
Columbia, SC 29201  
(803) 929-0770  
raia@rjhirschlaw.com

ROBERT M. DUDEK, ESQ.  
Chief Appellate Defender  
South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err in denying Defense counsel's objection to suppress Defendant's inculpatory statement?
  - A. The Court should have suppressed the Appellant's statement as involuntary because it was elicited as a result of:
    1. An implied promise by law enforcement for reward in the form of a granted bond
    2. Threats by law enforcement in the form of repeated recitations of amount of time he faced on an unrelated charge;
    3. Law enforcement's threat to Appellant's sister regarding her potential arrest and/or removal of her children from her care by the Department of Social Services.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 16, 2013, Kelvisus Anthony (“The Victim”), was shot during an alleged armed robbery, and subsequently died on January 28, 2013. (R. pp. 1-2). In May of 2013, David Stalk (“The Appellant”) was charged with the murder of the Victim. Armed Robbery & Possession of a Deadly Weapon during the Commission of a Violent Crime. (R. pp. 2-3). On January 14, 2014, the Appellant intended to enter a guilty plea to the charge of manslaughter, but prior to the adjudication, he changed his mind. Instead the Appellant elected to go forward on all three charges in a jury trial in the Court of General Sessions in the County of Lancaster, before the Honorable R. Knox McMahon. (R. pp. 3-4). Three days later, he was found guilty on all three charges and sentenced to forty-five (45) years on the murder charge, twenty (20) years for the attempted armed robbery, and 5 (five) years on the weapons charge, to run concurrent. (R. p. 458, lines 11-18). At trial, Mark Grier (“Defense Counsel”) of the Lancaster Public Defender’s Office raised a number of defenses and objections to the State’s allegations, including assertions that: (1) Appellant had not been properly Mirandized; and (2) Appellant’s confession was coerced. (R. pp. 127-128).

## ARGUMENTS

### **The Circuit Court Erred in Failing to Suppress Involuntary Confession Made by Appellant.**

The trial court should have suppressed the Appellant's confession as it was elicited involuntarily as the result of coercive tactics used by law enforcement. This Court should reverse the trial court's finding of guilty on all counts and remand this case for a new trial.

#### **A. The trial court should have suppressed the Appellant's confession because the statement was made following a promise of leniency, express or implied, by law enforcement, and is thus involuntary and should be inadmissible at trial.**

The Appellant argues that he made a false and involuntary confession to the crime of murder as a result of coercive interrogation tactics on the part of the investigating officers. (R. p. 195, lines 3-4). While the record reflects that the Appellant did voluntarily waive his *Miranda* rights, he did so as a result of alleged improper promises and threats made by the interrogating and Lead Investigator. (R. p. 59, lines 6-19). He claims that these improper tactics included an explicit promise to assist in obtaining a bond on an unrelated charge, repeated recitations of sentences he could face on an unrelated charge, as well as an implicit promise that the bond would be obtained if he confessed to the murder. (R. p. 55, lines 1-5). As a result of these coercive tactics, in the form of both promises and threats, the Appellant argues that this inculpatory confession was not voluntary, and per *Miranda* should have been suppressed at trial. *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436 (1966). As a result, Appellant requests that this matter be remanded to the circuit court for a new trial.

The determination as to whether or not a custodial statement is voluntary, and thus admissible in court is made in a pre-trial evidentiary hearing based on a preponderance of the evidence. *Jackson v. Denno*, 378 U.S. 368 (1964). The requirements for voluntariness are set forth in *Miranda*, which holds that “to render a statement admissible the proof must be adequate to establish that the accused was not involuntarily impelled to make a statement.” *Miranda* at 462. At trial, the State has the burden of proving that the statement was given voluntarily, and they must do so to the jury beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Von Dohlen*, 322 S.C 234, 471 S.E.2d 689 (2007). The pre-trial decision is based on “whether it was knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily given under the totality of the circumstances.” *State v. Peake*, 291 S.C. 138, 139, 352 S.E.2d 487, 488 (1987) citing *State v. Rabon*, 275 S.C. 459, 272 S.E.2d 634 (1980). The Appellant argues that the State failed to meet its burden in both the evidentiary hearing and in the jury trial, and thus requests the Court to remand this case for a new trial.

“Factual conclusions as to the voluntariness of a statement will not be disturbed on appeal unless so manifestly erroneous as to show an abuse of discretion.” *State v. Arrowood*, 375 S.C. 359, 365, 652 S.E.2d 438, 441 (Ct. App. 2007) citing *State v. Baccus*, 367 S.C. 41, 625 S.E.2d 216 (2006). The Appellant believes that such an error was committed in the admittance of his confession, because the voluntariness of the statement was overborne by the police’s interrogation practices. While such a standard is indeed a high threshold, courts are much more likely to find such an error occurred when it comes to evaluating the admissibility of confessions in cases where such a statement served as the primary evidence for conviction. In *Arizona v. Fulminante*, the court

recognized that convictions hinging on a defendant's confession are unlike others that might have relied on forensic evidence or eyewitness testimony, citing "the risk that the confession is unreliable, coupled with the profound impact that the confession has upon the jury, requires a reviewing court to exercise extreme caution before determining that the admission of the confession at trial was harmless." 499 U.S. 296 at 323 (1991). Thus, it is entirely proper for this Court to find that the trial court's ruling of admissibility of Appellant's statement was more than harmless error, and thus order a new trial to ensure Appellant's Constitutional rights are not violated.

The Appellant argues that the offer to assist in obtaining a bond induced him to make an involuntary and false confession that should not have been admitted at trial. (R. p. 54, line 23). When a statement is given based on inducement by coercive tactics it is deemed involuntary, and thus inadmissible in a court of law. *State v. Rochester*, 301 S.C. 196, 391 S.E.2d 244 (1990). However, to be rendered involuntary, the statement must be "so connected with the inducement as to be a consequence of the promise," such that the defendant's will was "overborne." *State v. Arrowood*, 375 S.C. 359, 652 S.E.2d 438 (Ct. App. 2007). Appellant maintains that this is exactly the case in this matter, as he only confessed to involvement based on promises made by the interrogating officer that included assisting him with obtaining a bond on an unrelated charge. (R. p. 54, line 23). In this case, the Appellant concedes that he waived his rights under *Miranda*, but even a statement given following the voluntary waiver of rights will not survive judicial scrutiny if it can be shown that such a statement was obtained by coercive means. *Id.* at 366, 442.

The Supreme Court of South Carolina addressed coercive interrogation techniques and involuntary confessions, where the appellant, after waiving her rights and

providing statements denying her involvement in the crime, was repeatedly presented with threats by interrogating officers. *State v. Osborne*, 301 S.C. 363, 392 S.E.2d 178 (1990). Specifically, she was told that she could be charged with “withholding evidence” if she did not provide an account that “fit the facts.” *Id.* at 364, 179. The Court found that any statement given after such a threat, even if *Miranda* rights had been waived, would be deemed involuntary and inadmissible at trial. *Id.* at 367, 180. Appellant asserted, “that even though she was advised of her *Miranda* rights, these statements were coerced because of these threats.” *Id.* at 365, 179.

Similarly, in this case, the Appellant also made an initial statement after waiving his rights where he denied involvement in the murder. (R. p. 19, line 1). It was only after he was denied bond on a different charge, and interrogated a second time, that he “confessed” in an attempt to placate law enforcement. (R. p. 47, lines 14-15). Finally, as in *Osborne*, during the interrogation process, Appellant was presented with the fact he face a number of years in prison on another charge. (R. p. 265, 21-25). The factual similarities between *Osborne* and the case at bar signifies that this is the case law that should be applied in this matter. As a result, the inculpatory statement that followed from coercive tactics should have been suppressed at trial.

In *Arrowood*, the defendant challenged the admissibility and voluntariness of his confession arguing that officers coerced him into making a statement by promising to drop unrelated charges. Additionally he alleged that officers promised to help him obtain a low bond on the charge he faced, and that they used a polygraph machine coupled with the statement that it would be in his “best interest to tell the truth.” *State v. Arrowood*, 375 S.C. 359, 652 S.E.2d 438 (Ct. App. 2007). The Court of Appeals found in favor of

the State because the officers testified they limited their promises to help by stating that all they could do was tell the judge that the defendant cooperated. *Id.* at 368, 443. The conflicting testimony was resolved in favor of the State, as “the officers’ offer to attest to Arrowood’s cooperation did not constitute promises of leniency.” *Id.*

The Court distinguished their finding from that in *State v. Peake*, where it was found that a promise of leniency induced an involuntary confession from the defendant. 291 S.C. 138, 352 S.E.2d 487 (1987). In that case, a confession was made after officers promised not to seek the death penalty if an inculpatory statement were made. *Id.* at 138, 488. This case is factually closer to *Peake* than *Arrowood* as the officer’s testimony is not in direct conflict with that of the defendant’s, as it was in *Arrowood*’s.

The Leading Investigator concedes that he did more than promise to tell the judge that Appellant was cooperative. He actually agreed to help Stalk get a bond. (R. p. 42, lines 6-17). Specifically, Lead Investigator testified that “I knew our judge wouldn’t be able to do anything with the murder charge,” but he never says the same of the accessory charge, the offense on which he promised to help the Appellant. (R. p. 41, lines 20-24). When asked by defense counsel if he would characterize his communications as having “committed yourself to speaking on behalf of Mr. Stalk?” he answered, “I would say yes.” (R. p. 50, line 1). While this exchange on its face alone may not seem egregious enough to warrant the subsequent confession involuntary, the conversation between Appellant and Lead Investigator must be analyzed under the “totality of the circumstances.” *Peake* at 139, 488 (1987). When evaluated under this standard, it is clear that the Court could find Appellant’s confession was obtained involuntarily, and thus should have been suppressed at trial.

**B. Threats or promises made to family members of a suspect are equally impermissible under Miranda, and may be considered when determining the voluntariness of a confession or statement made in the wake of learning of this threat.**

There is evidence that when looking for the Appellant, the Lead Investigator threatened the Appellant's sister with arrest herself and the involvement of Social Services with her children. (R. p. 324, lines 9-23). The Court addressed this issue directly in *State v. Corns*, 310 S.C. 546, 426 S.E.2d 324 (Ct. App. 1992), where the question at bar was specifically "whether the trial judge erred in admitting oral statements...because the statements were made involuntarily...to threats regarding his family." *Id.* at 548, 325. They held that such statements should be suppressed, as threats to a family member of the interrogated were just as "coercive" as threats made directly to the defendant himself. *Id.* The similarity between the method of intimidation in *Corns* is almost identical to those alleged to have been made in this matter, specifically the threat made by the officer to the defendant that "he could take out a warrant for his wife, that his wife could be put in jail and that his children could be taken by D.S.S." *Id.* at 550, 326.