ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lancaster County
The Honorable R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge
Appeal Case No. 2014-000166

RECEIVED
JAN 19 2016
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE

RESPONDENT,

V.

DAVID STALK

APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. MCINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

ALPHONSO SIMON JR.
Assistant Attorney General
South Carolina Attorney General's Office
PO Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-6307

RANDY E. NEWMAN, JR.
Solicitor, Sixth Judicial Circuit
Post Office Box 607
Lancaster, South Carolina 29721

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

(Tr. 128, 125 – 130, 18; R. p. 68, 125 -70, 18).

In regards to the statements made on February 6, 2013, the trial court stated as follows:

The testimony then that -- on the 6th he was brought over for a bond hearing. The officer testified, Lieutenant Hall testified clearly, "I tell him I'll talk to the Judge," that's clearly not a promise, probably an officer can't go to a bond hearing without talking to the Judge. It doesn't say what he's going to say. But, you know, obviously you get that indication from the 5th, what little bit I saw on the 5th and the 6th and that there was no contention, there was no animosity so to speak, there was no high pressured -- no pressure between the officer and Mr. Stalk, in that regard both of them on the 5th and the 6th. Now, on the 6th the testimony is that I believe the officer said he -- it was Officer Smalls indicated to him that Mr. Stalk wanted to see the officer, wanted to speak to him, then he wanted to speak to Mr. Lynn Tucker, and Mr. Tucker who he, Mr. Stalk, was employed by. The testimony is not clear to the Court as exactly who called Mr. Tucker, whether an officer called, Mr. Stalk called or they both called at different times, but at any rate Mr. Tucker is present in the interview room. The first part of the interview on there we see the officer readvising Mr. Stalk of his Miranda rights again, that would be Court's Exhibit Number 5, and Court's Exhibit Number 2. Number 2 is the written document entitled suspect's rights and Miranda warnings. First page, David Stalk, school, no alcohol, read and write, all the rights are initialed. Again, seven initials are to the left of each right. The waiver of right is signed by Mr. Stalk, signed by the lieutenant in the presence of Mr. Tucker. Mr. Stalk indicates I have read this statement of my rights, it was also stated to him verbally. I understand what my rights are. I am

willing to make a statement and answer questions. I do not want a lawyer at this time. I understand and know what I am doing. No promises or threats have been made to me and no pressure or coercion of any kind has been used against me. Thereafter follows a two page written statement. First page of the written statement again has the advisement of rights at the top, it's initialed twice by Mr. Stalk. The third and final page of this document initialed twice, signed by Mr. Stalk, witnessed by Lieutenant Hall and Captain Grant, I believe it is. That Court's Exhibit 5, the first part of the statement of the 6th is about three minutes, it's a little over three minutes. Obviously it both speaks and views for itself, I guess, but Mr. Tucker and Mr. Stalk are in there for a few moments by themselves. The officer comes in, advises him of his rights and he initials and then he says something about smoking a cigarette, and the officer says, "Well, I don't smoke, I don't have cigarettes." And either Mr. Stalk indicates that Mr. Tucker smokes or Mr. Tucker indicated that Mr. Tucker smokes and he said, "Look, let me smoke a cigarette and I will tell you whatever I know," and they take a break. And if you follow the counter that's 16:50 -- or 6:58, I believe, and then they return back on camera at 7:08 and he then begins talking. And I don't see that as a break. The testimony is the officer goes out with him while he's smoking. I'm sure he's not allowing an individual that's in a jumpsuit, that is shackled, that's clear, to go out and just smoke a cigarette with a citizen non-law enforcement without maintaining custody and control of him that entire time, so I don't take that as a break. That's no more a break than if Mr. Stalk said, "I need to use the restroom," and the officer escorted him to the restroom and stood outside of the stall while he used the restroom, walked him back and then I don't know of any case that says you would have to re-Mirandize him at that point. So that is a continuation. And clearly after he gives the statement and the officer goes through and says, "Look, I want to make sure -- I tried to keep up with you typing, I want to go back through it and ask you specific questions." And Mr. Stalk answers him again. The officer presents the document to him and he says, "Look, read over it before, you know, make sure I got it right," and he reads over it. And there's no threat, there's no promises, clearly he is given Miranda. The standard that I must apply at this point -- and I would also address Court's Exhibit Number 7. Court's Exhibit Number 7, of course, is the video tape of the 11th. Again, you see the officer advising him of his rights, going through his rights. And after he advises him of his rights, initials it -- well, I don't see that document up here. He advised him of his rights and then the officer -- and Mr. Stalk said, "Well, I don't want to sign my rights, I want a lawyer." And the officer says, "Well, I can't talk to you, I can't answer you." And he said, "Well, I just wanted to say something about the

statement that I gave before." And I took that into consideration also. And I also take into consideration his age, his intelligence, I take into consideration that during the giving of the confession that he had a supportive friend in there with him. Law enforcement would not have been required to notify a third party, just a third party that is not an attorney. He never asked for an attorney on the 5th or on the 6th. He asked on the 11th and the officer immediately shut down the questioning at that time. And both the 6th and the 11th were both defendant initiated contacted, they were not initiated by the officer. So citing State versus Parker and the fact that I'm only looking at it based on the preponderance of the evidence, I think it was clear that he was properly mirandized and that the statement was given freely and voluntarily of his own free will and accord and it is thus admissible in this case.

(Tr. 131, 121 – 135, 121; R. p. 71, 121 – 75, 121).

The statements from February 6, 2013 were admitted into evidence as State's Exhibits 68 and 69 subject to Appellant's prior objections. (Tr. 418-19; R. pp. 255-56). The written statement was admitted as State's Exhibit 67, also subject to the prior objection. (Tr. 409; R. p. 246).

Standard of Review

The trial judge determines the admissibility of a statement upon proof of its voluntariness by a preponderance of the evidence. State v. Arrowood, 375 S.C. 359, 365, 652 S.E.2d 438, 441 (Ct.App.2007) (citing State v. Washington, 296 S.C. 54, 55, 370 S.E.2d 611, 612 (1988); State v. Smith, 268 S.C. 349, 354, 234 S.E.2d 19, 21 (1977)). "If admitted, the jury determines whether the statement was freely and voluntarily given beyond a reasonable doubt." Arrowood, 375 S.C. at 365, 652 S.E.2d at 441.

The test of voluntariness is whether a defendant's will was overborne by the circumstances surrounding the giving of a confession. Dickerson v. U.S., 530 U.S. 428, 434, 120 S.Ct. 2326, 147 L.Ed.2d 405 (2000). When considering the voluntariness of a statement, the court and jury should consider "not only the crucial

element of police coercion; the length of the interrogation; its location; its continuity; the defendant's maturity; education; physical condition; and mental health." Withrow v. Williams, 507 U.S. 680, 693, 113 S.Ct. 1745, 123 L.Ed.2d 407 (1993) (omitting internal citations). Misrepresentations of evidence by police, although a relevant factor, do not render an otherwise voluntary confession inadmissible. Frazier v. Cupp, 394 U.S. 731, 739, 89 S.Ct. 1420, 22 L.Ed.2d 684 (1969). "Coercion is determined from the perspective of the suspect." [State v. Miller, 375 S.C. [370,] 386, 652 S.E.2d [444,] 452 [(Ct.App.2007)].

State v. Goodwin, 384 S.C. 588, 601, 683 S.E.2d 500, 507 (Ct. App. 2009). "A statement may be held involuntary if induced by threats or violence, or if obtained by any direct or implied promises, or if obtained by the exertion of improper influence." State v. Register, 323 S.C. 471, 478, 476 S.E.2d 153, 158 (1996) (citing State v. Rochester, 301 S.C. 196, 391 S.E.2d 244 (1990)). A statement induced by a promise of leniency is involuntary only if so connected with the inducement as to be a consequence of the promise. State v. Peake, 291 S.C. 138, 139, 352 S.E.2d 487, 488 (1987).

Factual conclusions as to the voluntariness of a statement will not be disturbed on appeal unless so manifestly erroneous as to show an abuse of discretion. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006); State v. Von Dohlen, 322 S.C. 234, 242, 471 S.E.2d 689, 695 (1996); Reed v. Becka, 333 S.C. 676, 685, 511 S.E.2d 396, 401 (Ct.App.1999). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion that is without evidentiary support." Arrowood, 375 S.C. at 366, 652 S.E.2d at 442; State v. Preslar, 364 S.C. 466, 472, 613 S.E.2d 381, 384 (Ct.App.2005). Accordingly, the appellate courts are "bound by fact findings in response to motions preliminary to trial when the findings are supported by the evidence and

not clearly wrong or controlled by error of law.” Reed, 333 S.C. at 685, 511 S.E.2d at 401 (citing State v. Amerson, 311 S.C. 316, 320, 428 S.E.2d 871, 873 (1993)). When reviewing a trial judge’s ruling concerning voluntariness, the appellate court does not re-evaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence, but simply determines whether the trial judge’s ruling is supported by any evidence. State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 136, 551 S.E.2d 240, 252 (2001).

- I. **The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting Appellant’s February 6, 2013 statement into evidence. The record supports the trial court’s determination that the statement was freely and voluntarily given, and that it was not the result of any improper coercion.**

Appellant asserts he was coerced into giving the February 6, 2013 statement by promises that he would receive bond if he cooperated with law enforcement. His argument is not supported by the record. Looking at the totality of the circumstances, the trial court’s determination that Appellant’s statement was voluntary is supported by the record.

First, the length of the interrogation supports a finding the statement was given voluntarily. On February 5, 2013, Appellant gave two interviews. The first interview, which was in regards to accessory after the fact to first degree burglary and to armed robbery charges, lasted approximately forty-five minutes. Appellant was also interviewed for two hours regarding the charges in this case. (Tr. 70; see Defense Exhibit 2; R. p. 12). On February 6, 2013, the interview lasted approximately an hour, including a ten minute smoke break. (Tr. 88, 93; see State’s Exhibits 68, 69; R. pp. 30, 35). The briefness of the interviews

support a finding the statement given on February 6 was voluntary. See State v. Myers, 359 S.C. 40, 47, 596 S.E.2d 488, 492 (2004) (finding interrogations that lasted no more than a few hours supported finding statement was voluntary); Saltz, 346 S.C. at 135, 551 S.E.2d at 252 (finding interrogation lasting six to seven hours did not render statement involuntary).

The interview location also supports a finding Appellant's statement was voluntary. Appellant was interviewed in Investigator Hall's office. He was not subjected to harsh conditions. During the interview, he was provided with a smoke break, and he was allowed to have a friend in the interview as support. Further, the interviews were not continuous. The interviews on February 5 began at approximately 3:18 p.m., and were over within three hours. (Tr. 71-74; R. pp. 13-16). Appellant was not interviewed again until 11:54 a.m. on February 6th, and that interview lasted only approximately an hour. (Tr. 86-88; R. pp. 28-30).

Appellant's maturity supports the trial court's finding that the statement was voluntary. At the time the statement was given, Appellant was twenty-three years old. (Tr. 73, 86; see State's Exhibits 66, 67; R. pp. 15, 28). He had a tenth grade education, and he indicated to the investigators that he could read and write the English language. (Tr. 73, 86, 383; State's Exhibit 68, Defense Exhibit 2; R. pp. 15, 28, 228). There was no testimony or evidence reflecting Appellant was not in good physical condition or mental health.

Finally, there was no evidence reflecting any police coercion overbore Appellant's ability to give a voluntary statement. First, there is no evidence there was coercive actions taken by law enforcement to induce Appellant's statement.

While Appellant contends there was an implicit promise of bond in exchange for the statement, that assertion is not supported by the record. During the Jackson v. Denno hearing, Investigator Hall testified that law enforcement did not promise Appellant anything in exchange for information about the homicide. (Tr. 76, 91; R. pp. 18, 33). The video of the interview from February 6 reflect that no promises were made regarding bond. Hall also testified that he never promised Appellant that he would receive bond, but Hall did indicate that he would talk speak on Appellant's behalf with the judge regarding bond on the accessory charge. (Tr. 100; R. p. 42). Hall noted that he never said that Appellant would get bond because that would be up to the judge to determine. (Tr. 99-100; R. pp. 41-42). Hall also stated that he did speak on Appellant's behalf at a bond hearing. (Tr. 100, 107-08; R. pp. 42, 49-50). In the video of the second part of the February 6 interview, Hall indicated that he wanted to be able to speak on Appellant's behalf and let a judge know that he was cooperative, forthcoming, and showed remorse. (See State's Exhibit 69).

Overall, there was no promise of leniency made in the form of a promise of bond. Respondent submits that the situation presented here is akin to that presented in Arrowood. In Arrowood, officers categorically denied they promised to assist the defendant by having some charges dropped, securing a low bond, and having other charges run concurrently. Arrowood, 375 S.C. at 368, 652 S.E.2d at 443. "Instead, the officers insist the only 'help' they offered Arrowood was to testify in court that he cooperated with the investigation." Id. The Court of Appeals found the statement was voluntarily given because offers to attest to

cooperation with law enforcement did not constitute promises of leniency. Id. The Court of Appeals noted the defendant “produced his statements in the mere ‘hope’ of leniency based on his cooperation, rather than as the consequence of promises.” Id. at 369, 652 S.E.2d at 443. To the extent there was any conflict as it relates to Investigator Hall’s testimony as to what was said and Appellant’s testimony as to what was said regarding bond, it was within the trial court’s purview to determine which version of the facts was correct. See Arrowood, 375 S.C. at 369, 652 S.E.2d at 443; State v. Howard, 296 S.C. 481, 492, 374 S.E.2d 284, 290 (1988). Appellant has not shown that the trial court’s determination was not supported by the record. This argument should be denied and dismissed. His convictions should be affirmed.

II. Appellant's statement was not rendered involuntary by alleged repeated recitations of the amount of time he faced on an unrelated charge.

In his second argument on appeal, Appellant contends that his statement was rendered involuntary because it was induced by statements regarding the number of years he faced in prison on an unrelated accessory after the fact to burglary charge for which Appellant was arrested on February 5, 2013. Appellant is not entitled to relief upon this claim. First, this argument was not presented to the trial court, and is thus not preserved for appellate review. Second, this argument is without merit. There is no evidence to support the allegation asserted in this argument as law enforcement did not discuss potential sentences for the accessory after the fact charges with Appellant during the interviews regarding the charges stemming from this case.

A. Appellant's argument is not preserved for appellate review.

Appellant contends the trial court erred in finding Appellant's statement was voluntary because it was induced by "threats" regarding the time he faced on another charge. (Initial Brief of Appellant at p. 7-8; R. pp. 482-83). Respondent submits this argument was not made to the trial court. At the Jackson v. Denno hearing, Appellant presented two arguments regarding the voluntariness of the statement by Appellant. First, he argued that the statement was induced by a promise that Appellant would receive bond on the accessory after the fact charge for giving a statement. Second, Appellant contended that he should have been advised of his rights again after the smoke break between the first and second parts of the interview conducted on February 6, 2013. Appellant did not complain

that his statement was somehow induced by a fear regarding the amount of time he faced on the accessory after the fact charge. The trial court also never ruled on this argument. Since Appellant did not present this argument to the trial court, and it was not ruled upon by the trial court, it is not preserved for appellate review. See State v. Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 58, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005) (stating an objection should be sufficiently specific to bring the exact error to the trial court's attention); State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 380, 580 S.E.2d 785, 795 (S.C. Ct. App. 2003); see State v. Perez, 334 S.C. 563, 565-66, 514 S.E.2d 754, 755 (1999) (issue not raised and ruled upon by trial court is procedurally barred and not preserved for appeal); see also State v. Tucker, 319 S.C. 425, 428, 462 S.E.2d 263, 265 (1995) (party cannot argue one ground below and then another on appeal); see Goodwin, 384 S.C. at 603, 683 S.E.2d at 508 (issue regarding statement that was not raised at trial not preserved for appellate review); State v. Jones, 392 S.C. 647, 654, 709 S.E.2d 696, 700 (Ct. App. 2011) (finding argument regarding involuntary statement that was not made before lower court is not preserved for appellate review).

B. Appellant's argument is without merit.

Appellant contends his statement was rendered involuntary because he was repeatedly told about the amount of time he was facing on the accessory after the fact to burglary charge for which he was arrested on February 5, 2013.

This claim is wholly without merit. First, contrary to Appellant's assertions, his case is not similar to the facts outlined in State v. Osborne, 301 S.C. 363, 392 S.E.2d 178 (1990). In Osborne, the defendant challenged two of eleven

statements she gave over a two and one-half month period. The defendant claimed the statements were coerced because the officers threatened to charge her with “withholding evidence” if she did not make a statement. Id. at 365, 392 S.E.2d at 179. In regards to the first statement, she also asserted that she was told that the first statement she challenged did not “fit the facts” and therefore she must provide another statement or face charges for withholding evidence. Id. In Osborne, both the defendant and the sheriff testified that the defendant was essentially told that she did not have to talk, but if she withheld evidence, she could be charged with a crime. Id. at 365-67, 392 S.E.2d at 179-80. The Supreme Court concluded that the State failed to meet its burden by a preponderance of the evidence that the rights were voluntarily waived. Id. at 367, 392 S.E.2d at 180.

Appellant's case is distinguishable in several respects. First, Appellant was not threatened with being charged for the accessory after the fact if he did not cooperate. To the contrary, Appellant was already charged with accessory after the fact for burglary. He was arrested for that charge, and the first interview Appellant gave on February 5 was in reference to that charge. Second, during the course of the interview on February 6, there is no mention of the possible sentence for the accessory after the fact charge. In fact, the only time any discussion regarding a possible sentence for the accessory after the fact charges occurred was during the first interview that was specifically regarding those charges. Law enforcement never made a connection between Appellant's cooperation in this case with his possible sentence(s) on other charges.

Respondent would note that Appellant never even testified that the amount of time he faced for the accessory charges led him to give an incriminating statement.

Respondent submits that any alleged pressure Appellant may have felt regarding the possible sentences he faced for the accessory after the fact charges did not stem from pressure from law enforcement. As such, any such pressure did not render Appellant's statement involuntary under the Fifth Amendment. Colorado v. Connelly, 479 U.S. 157, 170, 107 S. Ct. 515, 523, 93 L. Ed. 2d 473 (1986) ("The voluntariness of a waiver of this privilege has always depended on the absence of police overreaching, not on "free choice" in any broader sense of the word."). This argument should therefore be denied and dismissed, and Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

III. Appellant's statement was not rendered involuntary by the alleged threats made against Appellant's sister regarding a possible arrest and removal of her children by the Department of Social Services.

In his third argument on appeal, Appellant contends that his statement was rendered involuntary because it was induced by threats made by law enforcement against Appellant's sister. Specifically, Appellant contends that law enforcement threatened to arrest his sister, and law enforcement threatened to have her children taken away by the Department of Social Services. (Initial Brief of Appellant, pp. 8-9; R. pp. 483-84). Appellant is not entitled to relief upon this claim. First, this argument was not presented to the trial court, and is thus not preserved for appellate review. Second, this argument is without merit. There is no evidence that Appellant was ever informed of a threat by law enforcement against his sister and her children.

A. Appellant's argument is not preserved for appellate review.

Appellant contends that law enforcement threatened to arrest his sister, and law enforcement threatened to have her children taken away by the Department of Social Services. (Initial Brief of Appellant at p. 8-9; R. pp. 483-84). Respondent submits this argument was not made to the trial court. At the Jackson v. Denno hearing, Appellant presented two arguments regarding the voluntariness of the statement by Appellant. First, he argued that the statement was induced by a promise that Appellant would receive bond on the accessory after the fact charge for giving a statement. Second, Appellant contended that he should have been advised of his rights again after the smoke break between the first and second parts of the interview conducted on February 6, 2013. Appellant

did not complain that his statement was somehow induced by a threat or threats made regarding his sisters. The trial court also never ruled on this argument. Since Appellant did not present this argument to the trial court, and it was not ruled upon by the trial court, it is not preserved for appellate review. See State v. Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 58, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005) (stating an objection should be sufficiently specific to bring the exact error to the trial court's attention); State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 380, 580 S.E.2d 785, 795 (S.C. Ct. App. 2003); see State v. Perez, 334 S.C. 563, 565-66, 514 S.E.2d 754, 755 (1999) (issue not raised and ruled upon by trial court is procedurally barred and not preserved for appeal); see also State v. Tucker, 319 S.C. 425, 428, 462 S.E.2d 263, 265 (1995) (party cannot argue one ground below and then another on appeal); see Goodwin, 384 S.C. at 603, 683 S.E.2d at 508 (issue regarding statement that was not raised at trial not preserved for appellate review); State v. Jones, 392 S.C. 647, 654, 709 S.E.2d 696, 700 (Ct. App. 2011) (finding argument regarding involuntary statement that was not made before lower court is not preserved for appellate review).

B. Appellant's contention is without merit.

Appellant's contention that his statement was rendered involuntary by threats made to his sister is without merit. First, there is no evidence that Appellant was ever made aware of any such threat.⁴ This was not a matter raised during the Jackson v. Denno hearing.

⁴ Respondent submits it is questionable whether such a threat was made based upon the record in this case. The only person who testifies to such a threat being made was Appellant's sister. (See Tr. 527; R. p. 324).

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